# DISTRICT 18 OF THE AMERICAN CONTRACT BRIDGE LEAGUE

#### **BY-LAWS**

# ARTICLE I

#### **NAME**

- <u>Section 1</u>: The name of this organization shall be "District 18 of the American Contract Bridge League", hereinafter referred to as the "District".
- <u>Section 2</u>: The name "American Contract Bridge League" will hereinafter be referred to in these By-Laws as "ACBL".

# **ARTICLE II**

#### PRINCIPAL OFFICE AND JURISDICTIONAL AREA

- <u>Section 1</u>: The headquarters of the District shall be such place within the District as the Board of Directors may designate.
- <u>Section 2</u>: The jurisdictional area of the District shall consist of all the Units within District 18 as defined by the ACBL Board of Directors.

# ARTICLE III

#### OBJECT

<u>Section 1</u>: The purpose of this District shall be:

- A. To cooperate with and assist ACBL in the promotion and conduct of bridge tournaments, and to perform such other functions as may hereafter be delegated by ACBL.
- B. To promote the highest standards of conduct and ethics for participants in tournaments and to take any and all steps necessary for that purpose.

- C. To seek concerted action on all matters affecting the District by consultation with and recommendations to the District Representative on the National Board of Directors.
- D. To conduct the regionals allocated to the District, deciding where and when they will be held, in accordance with ACBL regulations.
- E. To prepare a tentative schedule of sectional tournaments to be held by the units in the District, subject to approval by ACBL, using the following procedures:
  - 1. Before any unit seeks sanction from ACBL for a tournament date, they shall give reasonable notice to the District Tournament Coordinator of their intended date.
  - 2. The Unit President shall confer with a ranking, rated bridge director in the District, or if none lives in the District, then such other director as does the majority of the directing as shall be determined by the District President and in conjunction with said director shall schedule sectionals requested by the units.
  - 3. Where, in the opinion of the District President a conflict exists by reason of proximity of dates and distance or playing area, he shall attempt to notify the two units and arrange agreeable rescheduling. If this becomes impossible, he shall then submit the question of rescheduling to the directors individually by mail or by phone in such a manner as to give reasonable notice of the question presented and an opportunity for them to signify their approval.
  - 4. The District President and the members of the Board of Directors shall give consideration to the following things in determining questions of scheduling:
    - a. The greatest benefit to the greatest number of players that would be expected to participate.
    - b. The benefit to the individual units to permit financial success of their sectionals.

- c. The historic reservation of certain dates by certain units and the possibility of conflicts with national, regional or sectional tournaments located within or without the District in proximity to the unit seeking the sectional.
- F. To provide a clearing house for individuals seeking candidacy for any bridge office in the ACBL Board of Governors or for the District organization where there is the possibility that there could be more than a single candidate.
- G. To promote District-wide games to provide financing for the District organization.

## ARTICLE IV

#### **MEMBERSHIP**

- <u>Section 1</u>: All units within the geographical boundaries of the District are automatically members of the District. This includes all existing units plus any which may be added in the future.
- <u>Section 2</u>: A member unit may be disciplined by the District for cause, after a hearing, in accordance with ACBL regulations.
- <u>Section 3</u>: An individual member of the ACBL may be disciplined by the District for cause, after a hearing, in accordance with ACBL regulations. The District shall have appellate powers, in the event of an appeal by an individual member from disciplinary action by a member unit of the District, in accordance with ACBL regulations.

# ARTICLE V

## THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- <u>Section 1</u>: The business, affairs, and property of the District shall be conducted and controlled in all respects by the District Board of Directors, hereinafter referred to as the "Board".
- <u>Section 2</u>: The Board may appoint committees and delegate to them assignments, projects, fact finding or planning studies. The establishment of policy shall remain with the

Board. Members of such committees must be members of the ACBL and members of units within the District area. The power and duty of a committee is limited to the restrictions included in the resolution by which it is created. A District Judiciary Committee shall be established to function in all disciplinary matters in accordance with ACBL regulations.

- <u>Section 3</u>: The District President may appoint an Executive Committee composed of three members of the Board to conduct such District business as the President may deem necessary or proper between regular or special meetings of the Board.
- <u>Section 4</u>: An annual membership meeting will be held in conjunction with one of the District Regional tournaments. The place of meeting will be rotated each year. At each membership meeting the President will announce the location of the next meeting.
- <u>Section 5</u>: If the affairs of the District warrant and the income justifies it, the Board may appoint a general manager or executive secretary to conduct the business of the District. This position may receive an honorarium.
- <u>Section 6</u>: The Board shall elect a president, vice- president, secretary and treasurer for terms of two years, except that the offices of secretary and treasurer may be combined, and may appoint such additional officers as it may deem necessary for the proper conduct of its business. The Board may designate the powers of the treasurer to receive, disburse, and account for District funds and may require a bond of such officer to be provided for by District funds.
- <u>Section 7</u>: Newly elected Board members will be seated at the Board meeting held during the first District regional in each calendar year. At this same meeting, on even numbered years, the Board will elect a slate of officers to serve for the following two years.
- <u>Section 8</u>: The Board may elect a Chairman of the Board, whose duties are to conduct Board meetings in the absence of the President. This position is normally reserved for the immediate past president who may still be a member of the Board.

# **ARTICLE VI**

# **ELECTIONS**

<u>Section 1</u>: The District Board of Directors shall consist of one representative from each of the following areas: Saskatchewan/Northern Manitoba, Alberta, Utah, Wyoming, Montana and Idaho, chosen by member units in a manner hereinafter described, plus the

District Representative to the National Board of Directors of the ACBL.

<u>Section 2</u>: In the election of members of the Board, the number of votes allocated to each Unit, shall be determined by dividing the Unit Membership by 100. The Unit membership will be deemed to be that which the ACBL office has on record on November 1 of each year.

<u>Section 3</u>: Election to the Board shall be for a term of three years. There will be no restriction on the number of consecutive terms a member may serve when duly elected. Approximately one third of the Board will be up for election each year in accordance with the following formula:

- A. In 1996 Montana will seat one member and Saskatchewan/Northern Manitoba will seat one member.
  - B. In 1997 Wyoming and Idaho will each seat one member.
  - C. In 1998 Alberta and Utah will each seat one member.

Elected members will be seated in accordance with Article V, Section 7.

Section 6: The Board shall appoint an Election Officer whose duties shall be:

A. "By December 1st of each year to advise each member unit within a state or province electing a member to the Board of such election and provide each unit with the Regulations for Conducting Elections. To further advise each member unit that nominations to the Board must be submitted to the Board via the election officer no later than January 30th. Prepare a notice of Call for Nominations to run in WASUMI for the period of November 15th to January 30th. Provide member Units with copies of this Call for Nominations to distribute throughout their unit. Nominees must reside within the area to be represented.

- B. Upon receipt of notices of nomination, and with the approval of the Board, prepare and submit a ballot and other material for conducting an election, by February 15th, to each member unit, listing the nominees for election from its area. Ballots are to be returned by March 30. In the case of ties, runoff elections are to be held before May 1.
- C. Upon receipt of ballots, to determine which nominee received the greatest number of votes and to request the Board to certify the result. Notify all candidates

and member units of the results of the election. Prepare a report on the election to be published in WASUMI.

<u>Section 7</u>: District 18 delegates elected to the ACBL National Board of Directors, who are no longer serving in that capacity will be considered Honorary Members of the District 18 Board, without voting powers so long as they continue to reside within the boundaries of District 18.

## ARTICLE VII

### **MEETINGS**

<u>Section 1</u>: An official meeting of the District Board of directors may be held at every District regional tournament when, in the opinion of the District President it is desirable to do so. Notice of the meeting shall be made in writing, by the president, to each Board member at least thirty days prior to such meeting.

<u>Section 2</u>: The president, or any five members of the Board representing at least three areas within the District as defined in Article VI, Section 1 of these By-Laws, may call a special meeting of the Board by giving not less than ten nor more than thirty days notice, in writing, to each member of the Board, stating the time and place of such meeting, together with an agenda of the business to be considered. All such meetings shall be within the District area.

<u>Section 3</u>: The president shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. If for good and sufficient reason the president cannot attend a meeting of the Board, the Chairman of the Board or Vice-President, in that order, shall preside. If none of these is present, the members of the Board present, constituting a quorum, shall select a member from among themselves to preside.

<u>Section 4</u>: A quorum for the transaction of business at any Board meeting shall consist of five members representing at least three areas within the District as defined in Article VI, Section 1 of these By-Laws. A majority vote of those members present shall be necessary to enact a resolution.

<u>Section 5</u>: If a Board member is unable to attend a meeting he may appoint a proxy to represent him. This must be done in writing and the proxy appointed must reside in the same area as the Board member. All proxies will be non-voting.

<u>Section 6</u>: If a Board member misses two consecutive meetings without having what the Board considers good and sufficient reason, the Board, by majority vote, may declare his position vacated and appoint another ACBL member from the same area to complete the unexpired term.

<u>Section 7</u>: No salaries shall be permitted Board members, however, the Board may establish reimbursement of expense policies.

# ARTICLE VIII

## **AMENDMENTS**

<u>Section 1</u>: These By-Laws may be amended by an affirmative vote of at least two thirds of the members of the District Board present at a special meeting called for that purpose in accordance with the provisions of Article VII, Section 2 of these By-Laws.